STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
In the General Sessions Court
Hon. J. Mark Hayes, II

Appellant Case No. 2022-000358
Lower Case No. 2020GS4203001

RECEIVED
JAN 19 2024
SC Court of Appeals

State of South Carolina, Respondent

vs.

Wesley Ray Kyzer, Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 229-5010
S.C. Bar No. 6188
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

Question I: Did the trial court err in failing to grant a new trial when a juror failed to disclose that he was a stand out wide receiver for Coach Christopher Miller at Byrnes High School in 2007 and 2008 when Coach Miller was a witness for the State?

Question II: Did the trial court err in failing to direct a verdict for Mr. Kyzer based upon the fact that the state never proved that Robert Wesley Brown was a certified teacher at the school?

Question III: Did trial court err in failing to direct a verdict when the alleged threat did not arise out of the duties of Coach Robert Brown as a teacher as required by the statute?

Question IV: Did the trial court err in failing to sustain the hearsay objection which permitted Coach Robert Brown to give testimony as to the reputation of Wesley Kyzer which was prejudicial to Mr. Kyzer's case?

Statement of the Case

Procedural Facts

On or about September 25, 2019, Wesley Ray Kyzer was arrested and charged with threatening the life of public school teacher and with first degree harassment. He was indicted on both charges on June 12, 2020. The charge arose from an incident that occurred on September 24, 2019. He was tried before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II and a jury on March 7-9, 2022. He was convicted of threatening the life of a public school teacher and acquitted of the first degree harassment. He was sentenced to five year in prison suspended upon the service of 90 days home detention, the payment of a \$5,000 fine and five years probation.

Mr. Kyzer filed his Notice of Appeal on the office of the solicitor on March 14, 2022.

On August 25, 2022, Mr. Kyzer filed a Motion to Suspend the Appeal while a motion for a new trial on after discovered evidence was held. The after discovered evidence consisted of juror misconduct in failing to advise the court of his relationship with one of the witnesses. A hearing on the motion was held on December 9, 2022. By order dated and filed on January 9, 2023, the Motion for a new trial was denied.

A second Notice of Appeal was filed on January 18, 2023.

Factual History

On September 24, 2019, Wesley Ray Kyzer had a confrontation with Coach Robert Brown in a restaurant in Spartanburg, SC. Coach Brown had been the baseball coach for Mr. Kyzer's son. Rec. at 114, ll 18-21. While Mr. Kyzer's son was on the team, a dispute arose over a chain of text messages among the coaches which Mr. Kyzer perceived as bullying his son. Rec. at 255, ll 23-25. The dispute ultimately led Mr. Kyzer to meet with Dr. Russell Booker, the

school superintendent for Spartanburg School District 7, to request the dismissal of Coach Brown. This meeting occurred in 2018. Rec. at 168, ll 6-17. Coach Brown was not dismissed.

At the Mexican restaurant, Mr. Kyzer stopped by the table where Coach Brown was sitting with three other coaches. Coach Brown testified that Mr. Kyzer, after shaking hands with Coach Chris Miller, cursed Coach Brown and said, “[Y]ou better hope I don’t see you outside of here or I will kill you.” Rec. on App. at 97, ll 15-16. All of the other three coaches testified Mr. Kyzer cursed Coach Brown. None of them recalled hearing a threat. No threat was given in the initial statements given by the other three witnesses when they were interviewed by the Spartanburg City police.

Coach Andrew Caldwell only testified as to the cursing and a statement about “I hope to see you outside.” Rec. at 145, ll 5-6. He affirmatively testified he did not hear any threat to kill Coach Brown. Rec. 148, ll 17-19. Coach Ryan Thomas also testified as to the cursing and the statement, “[Y]ou not let catch you outside here or something like that.” Rec. 155, ll 3-5. Coach Chris Miller also testified as to the cursing. He also testified Mr. Kyzer said, “[I]f I catch you out in the community by yourself somewhere, its, it’s gonna be me and you and - - I’m gonna get you.” Rec. on App. at 159, ll 22-24. He also affirmatively denied hearing any threat to kill. Rec. on App. at 160, ll 15-25.

Mr. Kyzer was interviewed by Officer Ben Johnson. Officer Johnson testified that Mr. Kyzer admitted cursing Mr. Brown, but denied making a threat. He stated Mr. Kyzer told him, “[H]e had made the comment to Coach Brown during the intersection - - interaction that he was going to catch him slipping.” Rec. on App. at 185, ll 1-3. Officer Johnson testified “slipping” meant, “[H]e was looking for the opportunity to specifically seek out or run into Coach Brown’s family

and to do everything he could to make them feel as though he felt that Coach Brown made, I guess, his family go through or the emotions his family went through.” Rec. on App. at 186, ll 19-23. In his testimony, Mr. Kyzer admitted cursing Coach Brown but denied making any threat against him. Rec. on App. at 255, ll 8-25.

Prior to trial, defense counsel for Mr. Kyzer made a motion to dismiss the threatening a school teacher on the ground Coach Brown was not a certified teacher. Rec. on App. at 38, l 21 to 40, ll 7. The State conceded that Coach Brown was not a certified teacher. The State withdrew the argument that Coach Brown qualified as public official. Rec. on App. at 50, l 24 to 51, l 3. The case was submitted with a public employee being a lesser included offense.

While the initial appeal was pending, the wife of Mr. Kyzer was doing research on the jurors who served on the case. Rec on App. at 376, l 18 to 378, l 10. Through his attorney a Motion was filed to hold the appeal in abeyance until a hearing could be held on this after discovered evidence. This Motion was granted on October 12, 2022. The hearing was held on December 9, 2022. After the hearing, Judge Mark Hayes issued an order on January 9, 2023 denying the Motion for a new trial.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

As to Issues I and IV, as they involved evidentiary rulings, the standard of review is abuse of discretion. “The admission or exclusion of evidence is also subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review.” *State v. Douglas*, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 237 (Ct. App. 2014).

As to issues II and III, as they involve the application of the law to the facts of the case, the standard of review is de novo. “However, this Court reviews questions of law de novo.” *State v. Adams*, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014)

Question I

Did the trial court err in failing to grant a new trial when a juror failed to disclose that he was a stand out wide receiver for Coach Christopher Miller at Byrnes High School in 2007 and 2008 when Coach Miller was a witness for the State?

A judicial system that depends upon jurors also depends upon honest answers from honest jurors. This is basic to our system of justice. For when a juror lies in their response to a voir dire question, we seldom will know what motivates the false answer. “Where a trial judge grants counsel’s request that the judge ask a particular question on voir dire, counsel is entitled to a truthful answer to the question.” *State v. Gullede*, 277 S.C. 368, 370, 287 S.E.2d 488, 490 (1982). United States Supreme Court has said, “The necessity of truthful answers by prospective jurors if the process is to serve its purpose is obvious.” *McDonough Power Equipment, Inc. v. Greenwood*, 464 U.S. 548, 556 (1984). And this truthful answer must be so whether the responses be with an affirmative answer or through a failure to respond. A fair trial is not given the defendant if he does not have a fair jury. In this case Mr. Kyzer did not receive the honest answer from a juror to a voir dire question.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has established the basis upon which a new trial should be granted based upon juror misconduct in failing to properly respond to voir dire questions. The court said “A party seeking a new trial based upon the disqualification of a juror must show: (1) the fact of disqualification; (2) the grounds for disqualification were unknown prior to verdict; and (3) the moving party was not negligent in failing to learn of the disqualification before verdict.” *Gray v. Bryant*, 298 S.C. 285, 288, 379 S.E.2d 894, 896 (1989). In that case a juror failed to acknowledge that she was a patient of the medical doctor being sued for malpractice. A new trial was ordered. In this case, Mr. Kyzer meets all three requirements.

First, had Mr. Kyzer known of the fact that the juror had played football under Coach Miller, he would have used a strike for that juror. This court can almost take judicial notice of the fact that no lawyer would seat a juror who had been a player for a witness against his client. Second, this relationship between the juror and Coach Miller was not known prior to the verdict. Lastly, no reasonable means existed for Mr. Kyzer to obtain this information before the trial. Mr. Kyzer had the right to rely upon honest answers from the jurors. No reasonable means existed for Mr. Kyzer to know of this relationship prior to jury selection. No defendant should be burdened with the requirement to check, prior to jury selection, the names of all past and present players if a coach is a witness against their client.

The trial judge found that the juror did not conceal any information. This conclusion is not supported by the record. The record establishes that the juror recognized Coach Miller in the courtroom. Rec. on App. at 371, ll 19-24. Interestingly, the juror may not have even known Coach Miller was a witness as he testified did not hear the name read out. Rec on App. at 371, ll 16 -18. He further testified he did not think a high school coach would be considered “a

personal relationship.” Rec. on App. at 374, ll 12-13. He further testified that he did not think the question applied to him. Rec on App. at 374, ll 20-22. This statement is contradictory to the previous statement that he did not hear the question. One cannot believe the question did not apply to him if he did not hear the question.

In determining whether the juror withheld important information, this court must do more than simply accept the juror’s statements. As so aptly said by the Missouri court, “A prospective juror is not the judge of his own qualifications.” *Girratono v. Kansas City Pub. Serv. Co.*, 272 S.W.2d 278, 281 (Mo. 1954). Most jurors would not admit they could not be fair and impartial. The reason voir dire is asked is to determine relationships so the lawyers for both sides can use their peremptory strikes more intelligently.

This case should be controlled by *State v. Woods*, 345 S.C. 583, 587, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001). The facts, as to the juror not answering the questions were, “Juror B gave conflicting testimony regarding Question 1. Initially, she admitted hearing the question, but said she did not think it applied to her. She then said she could not recall the question being asked. When respondent’s attorney read the question from the transcript, she replied that the question ‘didn’t phase [sic][her],’ implying that she heard the question, but chose not to respond.” *Id.* at 587, 550 S.E.2d at 284. As noted previously, in this case the juror took virtually the same inconsistent positions.

Mr. Kyzer was prejudiced by the failure of the juror to state the relationship he had with Coach Miller. As the South Carolina Supreme Court said in *Wood*, when, “[A] juror’s response to voir dire amounts to an intentional concealment, the movant need only show that the information concealed would have supported a challenge for cause or would have been a material factor in

the use of the party's peremptory challenges.” *Id.* at 589, 550 S.E.2d at 285. Mr. Kyzer would have used a peremptory strike to excuse this juror. As this juror was the first juror selected, Mr. Kyzer had such a strike to use. Rec. on App. at 30, ll 13-23.

This Court should reverse the conviction of Mr. Kyzer and order a new trial for the failure of the juror to disclose the relationship between Coach Christopher Miller and himself.

Question II

Did the trial court err in failing to direct a verdict for Mr. Kyzer based upon the fact that the state never proved that Robert Wesley Brown was a certified teacher at the school?

Issue preservation

In anticipation of the state raising the question of issue preservation, Mr. Kyzer will address that issue first. Rule 19 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure uses the mandatory word “shall.” It provides, “On motion of the defendant or on its own motion, the court shall direct a verdict in the defendant’s favor on any offense charged in the indictment after the evidence on either side is closed, if there is a failure of competent evidence tending to prove the charges in the indictment.” As the rule requires a judge to direct a verdict on his own motion, there is no need for counsel for the defendant to make a motion for a direct verdict. On the civil side, Rule 50a of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure uses the word “may.” The civil rule does not give a trial judge the right to direct a verdict. The motion must be made by the attorney for either party.

As the trial judge in a criminal case is required to make his own directed verdict motion, then the issue as to the sufficiency of the evidence is always preserved. The reason for this

conclusion is very simple. As the Alabama Supreme Court stated over 150 years ago, “The State has no interest in convicting an innocent person.” *Lyman v. State*, 45 Ala. 72, 79 (1871). This court has stated, “A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged.” *State v. McHoney*, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001). If a defendant is entitled to a directed verdict and the Rule requires the trial judge to grant it on his own motion, then the issue is preserved. The United States Supreme Court has also expressed this same sentiment when it stated, “Indeed, concern about the injustice that results from the conviction of an innocent person has long been at the core of our criminal justice system.” *Schlup v. Delo*, 513 U.S. 298, 325 (1995). *State v. Cashen*, 789 N.W.2d 400, 407–08 (Iowa 2010) (“Because of the importance of the public interest in not convicting an innocent person of a crime, any standard should resolve doubts in favor of disclosure.”). As concern about convicting the innocent is at the core of our criminal justice system, this court should hold the failure of a trial judge to address the issue of actual innocence should preserve the issue for appellate purposes.

As to the importance of protecting the innocent from a wrongful conviction, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals said, “While it is the general rule that unless a motion to direct a verdict was made, an appellate court will not consider the evidence in a criminal case, nevertheless, where there is not sufficient evidence to support the conviction and error is apparent, then it becomes the duty of the court to reverse the judgment.” *Strickland v. United States*, 155 F.2d 167, 168 (5th Cir. 1946). If it is the duty of the appellate court to reverse the conviction, it is also the duty of the trial court to prevent the conviction. *See also, Wiborg v. United States*, 163 U.S. 632, 658 (1896) (“And, although this question was not properly raised, yet if a plain error

was committed in a matter so absolutely vital to defendants, we feel ourselves at liberty to correct it.”) Under Rule 19 of the Rules of Criminal Procedure, this court should find the issues as to a directed verdict based upon the failure of proof that Coach Robert Brown was not a teacher was preserved.

The issue of Coach Brown not being a certified teacher was first brought to the attention of the trial judge in a pre-trial motion. Rec. on App. at 39, ll 2-6. The State conceded that Coach Brown was not a certified teacher. Rec. on App. at 40, l 22 to 41, l 5. The trial judge, after hearing arguments from counsel for both sides stated, “I tell you both I don’t know. I’m gonna take a look at it. I don’t think the fact that I’m not gonna make a ruling right now is going to delay the proceeding of this trial.” Rec. on App. at 48, ll 15-16.

At the close of the state’s case, the issue of whether Coach Brown was a teacher within the meaning of the statute was not re-visited. At the close of the state’s case, defense counsel, “I’m not gonna address the threat charge. I think that’s a question for the jury.” Rec. on App. at 225, ll 15-16. This statement by defense counsel did not relieve the trial judge of this obligation under Rule 16 to make an independent evaluation of the evidence and direct a verdict if the lack of evidence so requires.

to the jury, the trial judge did not define teacher.

Coach Robert Brown was not a teacher within the meaning of the statute

During the trial, Coach Brown admitted he was not a certified teacher. Rec. on App. at 106, ll 13-16. The principle of Spartanburg High school stated, "I, I, I view him as a teacher." Rec. on App. at 218 ll 20-21. He also admitted Coach Brown was not certified. Rec. on App. at 218, l 24 to 219, l 1. In describing his duties, Coach Brown stated, "I am the strength - - assistant strength coach at the high school. I'm also the head baseball coach and, and serve many other duties inside of that title." Rec. on App. at 93, ll 21-23. His testimony as to exactly what he teaches is vague. He stated he and the head strength coach "we actually lesson plan together." Rec. on App. at 94, ll 9-10. He concluded, "Roughly 350 kids come through our room every single day for every sport in the high school." Rec. on App. at 94, l 24 to 95, l 1.

South Carolina Code § 59-25-20 provides, "No board of school trustees shall hereafter employ any teacher who has not a certificate to teach in the free public schools of the State." This provision pre-dates the passage of South Carolina Code § 16-3-1040 which prohibits threatening a teacher. This section was amended to include teachers by 1990 Act № 579. The legislature is presumed to have known the requirement that a teacher must be a certified teacher. "[W]here a statute uses a term that has a well-recognized meaning in the law, the presumption is that the General Assembly intended to use the term in that sense." *State v. Bridgers*, 329 S.C. 11, 14, 495 S.E.2d 196, 198 (1997); *See also* 73 Am. Jur. 2d Statutes § 110 (2023)("The legislature is presumed to know existing law at the time it enacts a statute."). Thus, the legislature is presumed to have known that only certified teachers could be hired by the school district. If they had intended to include non-certified teachers or people in the role of teacher, they could have

easily so provided.

What in essence has happened in this case, is the principal of the high school has made the determination of whether Coach Brown is a teacher. As the principal said, "I, I, I view him as a teacher." Rec. on App. at 218, 120-21. Had the principal not viewed him as a teacher, the judge would have directed a verdict as to the charge of threatening the life of a public official. The legislature cannot delegate its obligation to define a teacher to the principle of the high school. "It is well settled that the power to legislate cannot be delegated to private persons or corporations, nor to any other body." *State v. Watkins*, 259 S.C. 185, 202, 191 S.E.2d 135, 143-144 (1972). A conviction cannot be sustained on how an individual is viewed by the principal.

As Coach Robert Brown was not a teacher as defined within the statute, a directed verdict should have been granted.

Question III

Did trial court err in failing to direct a verdict when the alleged threat did not arise out of the duties of Coach Robert Brown as a teacher as required by the statute?

South Carolina Code § 16-3-1040 makes the threat to a teacher a crime against a public official only "if the threat is directly related to the public official's, teacher's, or principal's professional responsibilities." The alleged threat in this case did not arise out of the professional responsibilities of Coach Brown as a teacher. The alleged threat only arose out of Coach Brown's responsibilities as a baseball coach. The rule of statutory construction in South Carolina has long been "that if there be any doubt as to the proper construction it must be resolved in favor of the citizen as against the state." *State v. Lewis*, 141 S.C. 207, 139 S.E. 386, 391 (1927). When the statute says the threat be directly related to their professional responsibilities it must

mean the professional responsibilities that provide them protection under the law. Otherwise, a teacher having an argument with their neighbor over a fence dispute would violate the statute even if the individual knew the person was a teacher. A teacher staying after a ball game to clean up could have a confrontation with an individual that has nothing to do with their teaching position. But the person making the threat could be subject to five years imprisonment when he honestly thought the person was part of the clean up crew.

The record in this case shows that the confrontation between Mr. Kyzer and Coach Brown had nothing to do with Coach Brown duties as a strength coach. The cause of the confrontation arose many months earlier on an allegation that his son was bullied as a member of the baseball team coached by Brown. He was eventually kicked off the team. Rec. on App. at 114, l 3 to 115, l 1; 137, ll 9-17; 220, ll 1-23; 247, ll 16-18; 255, ll 23-25. The alleged threat simply did not involve Coach Brown as to any of his alleged teaching duties. The record establishes that Mr. Kyzer knew the dispute did not arise from Coach Brown's duties as a strength coach. As the threat did not involve Coach Brown's teaching responsibilities, the state has failed to prove a key element of its case. The trial judge, on his own motion, should have directed a verdict.

The obvious purpose of the statute is to protect teachers who are threatened for acts arising out of their teaching responsibilities. This is not what occurred in this case. The legislature did not intend to protect a teacher from all threats. If this were true, there would have been no need to limit the application of the law to events arising out of their responsibilities. Had Coach Brown not been deemed to be a strength coach teacher, the alleged incident would only have been a thirty day misdemeanor as Coach Brown would have only been a public

employee.

Question IV

Did the trial court err in failing to sustain the hearsay objection which permitted Coach Robert Brown to give testimony as to the reputation of Wesley Kyzer which was prejudicial to Mr. Kyzer's case?

During the re-direct testimony of Robert Brown, the solicitor asked Coach Brown about an incident with the son of Mr. Kyzer. According to the testimony, the son, after striking out in a baseball game, was approached by a coach and asked about his approach to his turn at bat. The testimony was the son then used vulgarity toward the coach. Coach Brown testified he asked the young man to apologize to the coach. Coach Brown testified the response from the minor child was, "[H]e said something to the effects of I'm not allowed to apologize. I'm not allowed to apologize." Rec. on App. at 136, ll 20-21. A timely hearsay objection was made.

The statement by the minor son does not qualify as a present sense impression, the basis upon which the trial judge admitted the statement. "There are three elements to the foundation for the admission of a hearsay statement as a present sense impression: (1) the statement must describe or explain an event or condition; (2) the statement must be contemporaneous with the event; and (3) the declarant must have personally perceived the event." *State v. Hendricks*, 408 S.C. 525, 533, 759 S.E.2d 434, 438 (Ct. App. 2014). The primary reason it does not qualify is there was no event at the time the statement was made. The statement made at the time Coach Brown heard it related to a prior event at some unknown time. It was a simple hearsay statement by the minor son explaining why he would not apologize.

Rule 803(1) states a present sense impression is not hearsay. A present sense impression

is defined as “A statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter.” One writer has said, “Since by definition a present sense impression is uttered spontaneously while the declarant is perceiving the subject of the declaration, the guarantees of trustworthiness of the exception are agreed to be two: no possibility of memory loss and little or no danger of insincerity.” Douglas D. McFarland, *Present Sense Impressions Cannot Live in the Past*, 28 FLA. ST. U. L. REV. 907 (2001)

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