RECEIVED

Feb 12 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000358

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

WESLEY RAY KYZER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3747

BARRY BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia St.
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

1. The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for a new trial.

Appellant contends that the trial court erred in failing to grant a new trial when a juror failed to disclose that he had a relationship with one of the witnesses. Specifically, that the juror was a wide receiver for Coach Christopher Miller who was a witness for the State. On August 25, 2022, Appellant filed a motion for new trial based on after discovered evidence. In the motion, Appellant argued that it was found that the first juror called, Juror 129, was a standout wide receiver at Byrnes High School in 2007 and 2008 where, State's witness Christopher Miller was the head coach. (R. 393).

Appellant stated that the trial judge asked the jury "[I]f you have a close personal, social relationship with any of those individuals, or if you've shared any type of employment or work relationship, or professional relationship with any of those individuals, I would ask that you stand at this time." (R. 10). Appellant argues that had they known that Juror 129 knew Miller they would have stricken him or asked that he be excused for cause because of the close personal relationship of player and coach. (R. 394).

A hearing was held on December 9, 2022, in front of the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II. At the hearing Juror 129 was questioned about his relationship with Miller. The juror stated that Miller was a football coach at Byrnes High School when he played there in 2007 and 2008. (R. 372). He further testified that the last time he had spoken to Miller was "probably around 2011." (R. 372). He stated that at the time of trial he did not have a close personal relationship or social relationship with Miller and that he had never had an employment or working relationship with Miller. (R. 373). The juror stated that he was not trying to conceal the fact that he knew Miller but didn't feel

that a high school football coach who he hadn't talked to in over 10 years was considered a close personal relationship and believed the question didn't apply to him. (R. 373).

A motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence must be made within one year after the date of actual discovery. Rule 29(b), SCRCP. A party seeking a new trial based upon the disqualification of a juror must demonstrate: "(1) the fact of disqualification; (2) the grounds for disqualification were unknown prior to verdict; and (3) the moving party was not negligent in failing to learn of the disqualification before verdict." Long v. Norris & Assocs., Ltd., 342 S.C. 561, 570, 538 S.E.2d 5, 10 (Ct. App. 2000).

When a juror conceals information inquired into during voir dire, a new trial is required only when the court finds the juror intentionally concealed the information and that the information concealed would have supported a challenge for cause or would have been a material factor in the use of the party's peremptory challenges. Thompson v. O'Rourke, 288 S.C. 13, 15, 339 S.E.2d 505, 506 (1986). "Where a juror, without justification, fails to disclose a relationship, it may be inferred, nothing to the contrary appearing, that the juror is not impartial. On the other hand where the failure to disclose is innocent, no such inference may be drawn." State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587-588, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001).

"Intentional concealment occurs when the question presented to the jury on voir dire is reasonably comprehensible to the average juror and the subject of the inquiry is of such significance that the juror's failure to respond is unreasonable." Id. at 588. Unintentional concealment, on the other hand occurs where the question posed is ambiguous or incomprehensible to the average juror, or where the subject of the inquiry is insignificant or so far removed in time that the juror's failure to respond is reasonable under the circumstances." Id. "Necessarily, whether a juror's failure to respond is intentional is a fact intensive determination which must be made on

a case by case basis.” Id. “If the court finds no intentional concealment occurred, the inquiry ends there.” Lynch v. Carolina Self Storage Centers, Inc., 409 S.C. 146, 155, 760 S.E.2d 111, 116 (Ct. App. 2014).

In Smith v. State, the Supreme Court affirmed the lower court’s holding that the petitioner did not suffer per se violation of the due process right to a fair and impartial jury when a juror remained silent during *voir dire*. Smith v. State, 375 S.C. 507, 654 S.E.2d 523 (2007). In Smith, there was evidence found that one of the jurors knew the defendant from being incarcerated in the same facility. Id. During *voir dire* the question posed was whether any member of the jury pool “was related by blood or marriage or a close personal friend” of the defendant. Id. at 519. At the hearing the juror testified that he was not a close personal friend and the defendant corroborated that he did not know the juror very well, despite having prior interactions during their period of incarceration. Id. at 516, 519. The court believed the juror did not intentionally conceal the existence of a prior relationship. Id. at 519.

On January 18, 2023, Judge Hayes denied Appellant’s motion for a new trial finding that Richardson did not intentionally conceal the information. (R. 399). The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in denying Appellant’s motion because there is evidence in the record that the juror did not intentionally conceal his relationship with the witness. Richardson was on the football team where Miller was the coach in 2007 and 2008. Fourteen years had passed since Richardson was a member of the football team and Miller’s name was read to the venire. Richardson and Miller did not maintain a social or personal relationship, and they never had a working relationship. Richardson and Miller had not spoken in 11 years. Lastly, Richardson testified that he did not stand because he did not believe it was a close personal relationship, that he thought the question did not apply to him, and that he did not mean to conceal the fact that he knew Miller. (R. 374).

The trial judge found that the juror did not intentionally conceal a relationship with the witness and therefore denied Appellant's motion for a new trial. Just like in Smith the trial judge did not err in denying Appellant's motion because there is evidence in the record that supports his decision. Therefore, this court should affirm.

2. The trial court did not err in failing to grant a directed verdict because the issue was not preserved and even if it was, the State was not required to prove that Brown was a "certified" teacher.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict for Appellant based upon the fact that the State never proved that Robert Brown was a certified teacher at the school. First, this argument lacks merit because it was not preserved. Even if it was preserved, being a certified teacher was not an element that the State needed to prove.

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). "Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-694 (2003). Here Appellant did not make a motion for directed verdict at any time. He specifically stated "At this time, your Honor, ... I'd make a motion to dismiss the harassment charge. I'm not gonna address, I'm not gonna address the threat charge. I think that's a question for the jury." (R. 225). Appellant did not raise the issue of directed verdict on the charge of threatening the life of a public-school teacher and therefore is not preserved to be ruled upon. However, even if it were preserved, the State did not have to prove that he was "certified."

Appellant was charged with threatening the life of a public-school teacher. Appellant argues that Brown was not a teacher within the meaning of the statute. "It is unlawful for a person

knowingly and willfully to deliver or convey to a public official or to a teacher or principal of an elementary or secondary school any...verbal or electronic communication which contains a threat to take the life of or to inflict bodily harm upon the public official, teacher, or principal, or members of his immediate family if the threat is directly related to the public official's, teacher's, or principal's professional responsibilities. S.C. Code §16-3-1040. There is nothing in the statute that requires the State to prove that the teacher is "certified."

Appellant argues that the civil statute should be looked at to determine what constitutes a teacher; however whether Brown was considered a teacher is a question of fact for the jury to determine and if there was any evidence to support that Brown was a teacher than the trial judge did not err in failing to direct a verdict. Robert Brown testified that on top of being the head baseball coach, he was an assistant strength coach for Spartanburg High School. (R. 93). In his duties as an assistant strength coach, he would lesson plan, enter grades, and take attendance for 30 different classes per week. (R. 94). Therefore, the trial judge did not err in failing to direct a verdict and therefore this court should affirm.

3. The trial court did not err in failing to grant a directed verdict because the issue was not preserved.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict when the alleged threat did not arise out of the duties of Coach Robert Brown as a teacher as required by the statute. Specifically, Appellant argues that because the threat rose out of Brown's responsibilities as a baseball coach and not as a teacher, it didn't meet the statutory requirement.

As mentioned above in order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). "Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial

court will not be considered on appeal.” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-694 (2003). Appellant did not raise the issue of directed verdict regarding the charge of threatening the life of a teacher and therefore is not preserved.

Even if it was preserved there is evidence that the threat arose out of Brown’s responsibilities as a teacher. There was testimony Brown taught 30 classes a week, took attendance, put grades in, and lesson planned. (R. 94). The question of whether Brown being a baseball coach was part of his teaching responsibilities is a question for the jury and therefore the judge did not err in not directing a verdict.

4. The trial court did not err in overruling Appellant’s hearsay objection.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in failing to sustain Appellant’s hearsay objection. Specifically, Appellant argues that in failing to sustain the objection it permitted Brown to give testimony as to the reputation of Appellant and that it was prejudicial to Appellant’s case.

Hearsay is defined as “a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Rule 801(c), SCRE. The rule against hearsay prohibits the admission of evidence of an out of court statement by someone other than the person testifying which is used to prove the truth of the matter asserted. State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 199, 582 S.E.2d 275, 280 (Ct. App. 2009). Out-of-court statements made by an unavailable witness are admissible if they fall into one of the exceptions. Rules 804(b), SCRE.

Brown was asked during his testimony why Appellant’s son was no longer on the team. (R. 136). In his response, Brown stated that there was an incident in a game and afterwards Brown gave the son the opportunity to apologize, but he told Brown that he was not allowed to apologize. (R. 136). Brown testified that since the kid did not apologize, the other option was to be removed

from the team. (R. 137). The statement was not admitted for the truth of the matter asserted. Brown was not testifying about whether the son could apologize was true, nor was Appellant mentioned in this testimony, but it was to explain why Appellant's son had been removed from the team. Therefore, the trial judge did not err in overruling Appellant's hearsay objection.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and convictions of the lower court should be affirmed.